FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION
Enforcement Burcau
Investigations and Hearings Division
445 12" Street, S.W., Suite 4-C330
Washington, D.C. 20554

JUN 0.3 2010

YIA CERTIFIED MATL - RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED.

Eacsimile at: (479

785-2411, (815) 963-6113. (812) 421-4040, (260) 484-4331_ (31

3220926, (417) 831

8)

Nexstar Broadcastin
5215 North Q*Conn
Irving, Texas 75039

Dear Licensee:

The Enforcer
Television Network
1464 and Section 73
“Armerican Dad™ on

-4209. (315) 797-5409 and (402) 899-4632

g, Inc.
or Blvd, Suite 1400

Re:  “American Dag”

File No. EB-10-EH-0188

nent Burcau has received numerous complaints alleging that Fox
affiliated stations aired indecent marerial, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
13999 of the Commission's rules,' during the stations® broadcast of
January 3, 2010, at approximately %:30 p.m. Easterri and Pacific

Standard Tirse and §:30 p.m. Central and Mountain Standard Time. The Burceu is
mvestigating whethar the “American Dad” broadcast violated the referenced sections.

On January 21, 2010, the Bureau sent a Letter of Inquiry conceming thesc
allegations o Fox Television Stations, Inc. (“Fox™) and directed Fox to provide

information and doc
cpisode of “Americ
affiliate stations.”

ents concerning the stations that had aired the January 3, 2010
Dad™, including Fox owned stations and Fox Television Network
e Fox LOI sought to create an accurate record during the fact-

gathering phase of tHe Enforcement Bureau’s investigation of this matier in 2 manner that
was efficient to all rdlcvant parties. Specifically, the Fox L.OI provided an opportunity

for Fox to indicate,

s a preliminary matrer, which stations did not air the material in

"Seed? CFR§ 73.39995.

? See Letter [rom Benign
Burenu, Federal Commun
FCC Compliance, Fox T+
LOT included an example]

b E. Bartolome. Deputy Chiefl Investigutions and Hearings Division, Enforeement

ications Commission, 1o Joseph Di Seipio, Esquire, Vice President for Legat und
levision Stations, Inc., dated Junuary 21, 2010 (“Fox LOT™) (antached). The Fox ]
complaint (“Complaint™). Sce id
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question. Fox refuged to respond to the January 21, 2010 LOJ or to subsequent demands
for the information [as directed, although it did not deny that it has the information, assert
that production is uhduly burdensome, or claim that the information is privileged. On
Tane 3, 2010, the Burean issued & Notice of Apparent Liability against Fox, proposing a
325,000 forfeiture, for jts willful and repeated violation of a Commission Order and of
Section 73.1015 of the Commission’s rules.?

We direct the Licensee, pursuant to Sections 4(i), 4(j), 308(b) and 403 of the
Communications Act of 1934, as amended,* to provide the information and Documents,
as defined hevein, within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of this letter.
Instructions and Definitions are contained in the attachment to this lotter, Requests for
confidential treatment or claims of attorney-clicat privilege or attorney work
product must mcet the requirements stated in the attached Instructions.

Unless otherwise indicated, the period.of time covered by these inquiries is
January 3. 2009 to Te present.

Inguiries: Documeénts and Information to be Provided

1. State whether the Licensee broadcast any or 21l of the material described in
the Complaint, and Jdentify which station(s) licensed to-the Licensee
broadcast the material.

2

With regard 1o cach station named in the responsc 1o Inquiry 1 above, provide:
2, [the call sign, comn;zunily of licensc and licensee; and
b. | the date(s) and time(s) of the Broadcast(s).

3. With regard to each station named in the response to Inquiries | and 2 above, -
State whﬁther the Licensee edited or otherwise broadcast only a portion of
“American Dad” on January 3, 2010, and for each station that edjted or
othenvisﬁ)roadc_ast only a portion of “American Dad” on January 3, 2010,
provide: .

a. | atranscript of the Broadcast! and
b. (1) 2 high-dcfinition recording of “American Dad,” as broadcast on

January 3, 2010, on a standard DVD that can be played on a DVD
player and a personal computer in WMV or QuickTime formar, as

*See Fox Television Sraifons, Notice of Apparent Liability, DA 10-595 (EB rel. June 3, 201 0).
" See 47 U.S.C. §§ 154(i). 154(j). 308(b), 403.
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well as (ii) 2 VHS videotaped rccording of the program in the
highest available quality. The recording should allow the viewing
of the program without interruption.

4. I 'the programming described in the Complaint does not accurately reflect the
material jpired over the station(s), describe any inaccuracies.

5. Did the Licenscc or the Fox Television Network display or announce any TV
Parental |Guidelines vegarding the broadcast of “American Dad” on January 3,
2010? Ii so, statc the rating applied and when and how that rating was
annoumced or displayed.

6. With regard to each station named in response to Inquiries 1, 2 and 3, above,
state whether the Licensee received any complaints relating to the broadeast,
If so, proyvide copies of all Documents relating to any such complaints and
group the Documents by station.

7. Provide copies of all Docurnents that provide the basis for or otherwise
support the responses to Inquiries 1-6, above.

8. Provide any additional information that you believe may be helpful in our
considerdtion and resolution of this matter. '

Instructions for Riling Responses

We direct tbi Licensec to support its responses with an affidavit or declaration
under penalty of pcrjury, signed and dated by an authorized officer of the Licensee with
personal icnowiedgc1of the representations provided in the Licensce's respouse, verifying
the truth and accuracy of the information therein and that all of the information and/or
recordings requested| by this letter which are in the Licensee’s posscssion, custody,
control, or knowledge have been produced. If multiple Licensee employees contribute to
the response, in addition to such general affidavit or declaration of the authorized officer
of the Licensee noted above, if such officer (or any other affiant or declarant) is relying
on the personal kno lledge of any other individual, rather than his or her own knowledge,
provide separate afﬁvIlavits or declarations of each such individual with personal
knowledge that idcntiify clearly to which responses the affiant or declarant with such
personal knowledge 15 attesting. All such declarations provided must comply with
Scction 1.16 of the Qommission’s rules,’ and be substantially in the form set forth
therein. X

To knowingly and willfully make any false staterment or conceal any material fact
in reply Yo this inquiry is punisheblc by fine or imprisonment.’ Failure to respond

*See 47 CFR. § 1.16. i
® Sew 18 U.S.C. § 1001: spe alsa 47 C.F.R. § 1.17.
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appropriately to this letter of inguiry may constitute a violation of the Communications
Act and our ralcs.” .

- The Licensee shall direct its response, if sent by messenger or hand delivery, to
Marlene H. Dorich,|Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, 445 12% Strect,
S8.W_, Room TW-A325, Washington, D.C. 20554, to the attention of Jennifer A, Lewis,
Attorney Advisor, Ihvestigations and Hearings Division, Enforcement Bureau, Room 4-
C330, with a copy tb Kenneth M. Scheibel, Jr., Assistant Chief, Tovestigations and
Hearings Division, Enforcement Burean, Room 4-C330, Federal Communicsations
Commission. If seni by commercial overnight mail (other than U.S. Postal Service
Express Mail and Priority Mail) the response should be sent to the Federal
Communications C(fmmission, 9300 East Hampton Drive, Capitol Heights, Maryland
20743. If sent by first~class, Express, or Priority mail, the response should be sent to
Jennifer A, Lewis, Attorney Advisor, lavestigations and Hearings Divisjon, Enforcement
Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, 445 124 Strcet, $.W,, Room 4-C330,
Washington, D.C. 2??%% with a copy to Kenneth M. Scheibel, Jr., Assistant Chief,
Investigations and Hearings Division, Enforcement Burean, Federal Communications
Commission, 445 12™ Street, S.W., Room 4-C330, Washington, D.C. 20554, The
Licensee shall also, to the cxrent practicable, transmit a copy of the response via email to
Jennifer,.Lewis@fcclgov and 1o Kenpeth.Scheibel@fee. gov,

Sincerely,

Lo 2 S0,
Kenncth M. Scheibel, Jr. .
Assistant Chief

Investigations and Hearings Division
Enforcement Burcau

Attachments (2)

" Sve SBC Communicatin 25, Ine., Forfeiture Order, 17 FCC Red 7589 (2002); Globeam, Ine, Notice of
Apparent Liability for Forfeinre and Crder, 18 FCC Red 19893, n.36 (2003); World Communications
Satellite Systems, Inc., Foffeiture Order, 19 FCC Red 2718 {Enf, Bur. 2004); Donald W, Kaminski, Jr.,
Forfciture Order, 18 FCCRed 26065 (Enf, Bur, 2003).
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Attachment
Instructions

Request for Confidential Treatmenr. If the Licensee requests that any information

or documents responsive Lo this letter be treated in & confidential manner, it shall subrmit,
. 2long with all responsive information and docurnents, a slaternent in accordance with

Scction 0.459 of the Commission’s rules. See 47 C.E.R. § 0.459. Requests for
confidential irearmeht must comply with the requirements of Section 0.459, including the
standards of speciﬁiity mandated by Section 0.459(b). Accordingly, “blanket” requests
for confidentiality o1 a large sct of docurnents, and casual requests, including simply
stamping pages “cox]ﬁdcntial,” are unacceptable. Pursuant to Section 0.459(c), the
Bureau will not consider requests that do not comply with the requirements of Section
0.459.

Claims of Privilege. If the Licensee withholds any information or documents
under claim of privi | ge, it shall submit, together with any claim of privilege, a schedule
of the items withheld that states, individually as to each such ftem: the numbered inquiry
to which each item résponds and the type, tile, specific subject matter and date of the
item; the names, addresses, positions, and organizations of all authors and recipients of
the ilem; and the spegific ground(s) for claiming that the item s privileged.

Formar of Responses, The response must be organized in the same manner as the
questions asked, i.e. the responsc to Inquiry 1 should be labeled as the response to nquiry
1. :

Method of Producing Documenty. Bach requested document, as defined herein,
shall be submitted inlits entirety, even if only a portion of that documcnt is responsive lo
an inquiry made herein. This means that the document shall not be edited, cut, or
cxpunged, and shall include all appendices, tables, or other attachments, and all other
documents referred tb in the docuraent or attachments. All written materials necessary to
understand any documment responsive io these inguiries must also be submitted.

Identificarlon|of Documents. For each document or Statement submitted in
response to the iuquizlics stated in the cover letter, indicate, by number, to which inquiry it
is responsive and identify the person(s) from whose files the document was retricved. If
any document is not dated, state the date on which it was prepared. If any document does
not identify its authoy(s) or recipient(s), state, if known, the name(s) of the author(s) or
recipient(s). The Licensee must jdentify with reasonable specificity all documents
provided in response to these inquiries.

Documents Ny Longer Available. If 2 Document responsive (o any inquiry made
herein existed but is no longer available, or if the Licensee is unable for any reason to
produce a Document responsive to any inguiry, identify each such Document by author,
recipient, date, title, ahd specific subject maiter, and explain fully why the Document is
no longer available or why the Licensee is otherwise unablé to produce ir.
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Retention of Original Documents. With respect oaly to documents responsive to
the specific inquiries made herein and any other documents relevant to those inquiries,
- the Licensee is dirceted to retain the originals of those-documents for twelve (12) months
from the date of this letter unless (a) the Licensee is directed or informed by the
Enforcement Bureala in writing to retain such dosuments for some shorter or longer
period of time or (b)) the Enforcement Bureau or the Commission releases an item on the
subject of this investigation, including, but not limited to, a Notice of Apparent Liability
for Forfeiture or an|order disposing of the issues in the investigation, in which case, the
Licensce must retain all such documents until the matter has been finally concluded by
payment of any mohetary penalty, satisfaction of all conditions, expiration of all possible
appeals, conclusion|of any collection action brought by the United States Department of
. Justice or execution| and implementation of a final settlement with the Commission or the
Enforcement Bureat:. '

Continuing Nature of Inquiries. The specific inquiries made herein are continuing
in nature, The Licefisee is required to produce in the future any and all documents and
information that are[responsive to the inquiries made herein but not initially produced at
the time, date, and place specified herein. In this regard, the Licensec must supplement
its responses (a) if the Licensec leamns that, in some material respect, the documents and
information initially| disclosed were incomplete or incorrect or.(b) if additional responsive
documents or information are acquired by or become known to the Licensee after the
initial production. ' The requirement to update the record will continue for twelve (12)
months from the date of this letter unless (a) the Licenses is directed or informed by the
Enforcement Buread in writing that the Licensee’s obligation to update the record will
continue for some shorter or longer period of time or (b) the Enforcement Burcau or the
Commission releases an item on the subject of this investigation, including, but not
limited 10, a Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture or an order disposing of the
issues in the investigation, in which case the obligation to update the record will continue
unti] the relcase of suich item.

Definitions
For purposes jof this lctter, the following definitions apply:

. “Any” shall be construed to include the word “all.” and the word “4ll” shall be
‘ consirued to include the word “any.” Additionally, the word “or” shall be construed 1o
include the word “and,” and the word “and™ shall be construed to include the word “or.”

The word “each” shall be construed to include the word “every,” and the word “every™
shall be construed 1o fnelude the word “cach.”

“Broadcast,” When used as noun, shall mean visual trages or audible sounds or
language transmitted pr disseminated over a station during the course of' a radio or
television broadcest.
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“Broadcast,”] when uscd as a verb, shall mean the transmission or dissemination of
radio or television communications inmended to be received by the public. The verb
“broadeast™ may bejused interchangeably with the verb “air.”

“Correspondence™ shall mean any letter, facsimile, e-mail, memorandum, note,
telegram, report; record, posting on Licensee website blogs or social networking
websites, or handwrﬁttan note,

“Document”| shall mean the complete original (or in leu thercof, exact copies of
the original) and any non-identicel copy (whether different from the original because of
notations on the copy or otherwise), regardless of erigin or location, of any taped,
recorded, transcribed, written, typed, printed, filmed, punched, computer-stared, or
graphic matter of ev!ery type and description, however and by whomever prepared,
produced, disseminated, or made, and regardless of how denominated, including but not
Iimited to any broad'cast, radio program, advertisement, book, pamphlet, periodical,
confract, corrcspondence, letter, facsimile, e-mail, file, inveice, memorandum, note,
telegram, report, rcclord, handwritten note, working paper, routing slip, chart, graph,
photograph, paper, index, map, tabulation, manual, guide, outline, script, abstract,
history, calendar, diefu’y, agenda, minute, marketing plan, research paper, preliminary
drafts, or versions off all of the above, and computer material (print-outs, cards, magnetic
or electronic tape, disks and such codes or instructions as will wansform such computer
materials into easily understandable form).

“Tdentify” when used with reference to a person or persons, means to siate his/her
full legal name, current or last known business address, current or last known telephone
number, current or last known orpanization and position therewith. “Identify,” when
used with rcference to a document, meens to state the date, author, addrosses, type of
document {e. g., the t'ypes of document, as described above), a brief description of the
subject matter, its present or last known location and its custodian, who must also be
identified. “Identify. " when used with reference to an entity other than a person, means
to state its name, current or last known business address, and current or last known
business telephone number. ‘

“Licensee” shall mean Nexstar Brordeasting, Inc. and any predecessor-in-interest,
affiliate, parent company, wholly or partially owned subsidiary, other affiliatcd company
or business, and all owners, including but not limited to, partners or principals, and all
directors, officers, employees, or agents, including consultants and any other persons
working for or on behalf of the foregoing at any time during the period covered by this
letter.

“Relating to” means in the whole or in part constituting, containing, concerning,
discussing, describing, analyzing, identifying, or stating.




FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION
Enforcement Burean
Investigations and Hearings Division
445 12" Street, $.W., Suite 4-C330 .
Washington, D.C. 20554

Jenuary 21, 2010

VIA CERTIFIED MATYL - RETURN RECEYPT REQUESTED
AND FACSIMILE AT (202) §24-6510

Mr. Joseph Di Seipio, Esq.

Vice President for|Legal and FCC Compliance
Fox Television Stations, Inc,

444 North Capitol{Street, N.W.

Suite 740
Washington, D.C.[20001

Re:  “American Dad”
File No. EB-10-IH-0188

Dear Mr. Di Seipio:

The Enforlemem Buresau is investigating allegations in numerous complaints,
including the enclosed redacted complaint, that the Fox Television Nerwork broadeast
indecent material dver various stations, including stations owned by Fox Television
Stations, Inc. (the [Licensee™), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1464 and Section 73.3999 of
the Commission’sirules.” Specifically, it is alleged that indecent material was aired
during the stations’ broadcast of “American Dad” on January 3, 2010, at approximately
9:30 p.m. Eastern and Pacific Standard Time and 8:30 p.m. Central and Mountain
Standard Time. Instructions and Definitions are contained in the attachment to this Jetter.
We direct the Licansee, pursuant to Sections 4(i), 4(3), 308(b) and 403 of the
Communications Act of 1934, es amended,” to provide the information and Documents,
as defined herein, \within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of this letter, Requests
for confidential treatment or claims of attorney-client privilege or attorncy work
product must meet the requirements stated in the attached Instructions.

Unless otherwise indicated, the period of time covered by these inquiries (s
December 3, 2009 to the present.

' See 47 C.F.R. §73.3955.
T See 47 U.S.C. §§ 154(7), 154()), 308(b), and 403,
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Inguiries: Documents and Information to be Provided

1. TItisalleged that, on January 3, 2010, certdin stations owned by the Licensee
broadeast material described in the Complaint during their eiring of
“American Dad.” State whether the Licensee did, in fact, broadcest any or all
of the material described in the Complaint and identify each station licensed to
the Licensee that broadeast that material. If the programming described in the
Comp laint does not accurately reflect the-material aired over the stations,
describe any inaccaracies.

2. With rg gard 1o each station referred to in the response to Inquiry 1 above,
provide:

a,| the call sign, community of license and licensee;
bl the date(s) and time(s) of the Broadcasi(s),

c. ‘if only & portion of “American Dad” was broadcast on January 3,
2010, describe the material so broadeast;

dl a u‘anscﬁpt of the Broadeast; and

el (i} 2 high-definition recording of “American Dad,” as broadcast on
January 3, 2010, on a.standard DVD that can be played ona DVD
player and a personal computer in WMV or QuickTime format, as
wel] as (ii) a VHS videotaped recording of the program in the
highest available quality. The recording should allow the viewing of
the program without interruption.

3. Identify each station licensed to an entity or individual other than the Licensee
thet hed the contractual right with the Licensee, as a network affiliate of
Licensee or otherwise, to air “American Dad” on January 3, 2010 and, for
cach sdch station, provide:

a. [thelicensee name, call sign, and community of license at the time of
broadcast;

b. |the date(s) and time(s) of the Broadeast(s); and
¢. Whether the Licenses has reason to believe that the station did oot uix

he material in question and/or aired an edited version of i, and if 50 the
iicensee’s basis for that belief.
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4. Provide the final Niclsen Media Research TV Audience measurements (points
and share), for “American Dad” on January 3, 2010, Organize the data for
each clatcgory as follows:

Ages 18 and older;
Ages 12 to 17;
Ages6to 11;end
Ages 210 5.

poo oo P

5. Prior th the broadcast of “American Dad” on January 3, 2010, was the Fox
Televition Networlc’s Program Practices or equivalent department consulted
about the content of the broadeast? If so, describe fully and provide all
Docunhents relating to that consultation, Ifnat, explain why not.

6. Did th;e Licensee or the Fox Television Networl display or announce any TV
Parenthl Guidelines regarding the broadcast of “American Dad” on January 3,
70107| If so, state the rating applied and when and how that rating was
announced or displayed.

7. Provi e copies of all Documents that provide the basis for or otherwise’
support the Tesponses to Inguiries 1-6, above.

8. Provi e any additional information that you believe may be helpful in our
consiﬁeraﬁon and resolution of this matter.

Instruciions for Filing Responses

We direct|the Licensee to support its responses with an affidavit or declaration
under penalty of perjury, signed and dated by an authorized officer of the Licenses with
personal lcnowleﬁge of the representations provided in the Licensee’s rasponse, verifying
the truth and aceuracy of the information therein and that all of the information and/or
recordings rcquc%ted by this letter which are in the Licensee’s possession, custody,
control, or knowledge have been produced. If multiple Licensee employses contribute to
the response, in aiddiﬁon to such peneral affidavit or declaration of the authorized officer
of the Licenses noted above, if such officer (or any other affiant or declarant) is relying
on the personal lcﬁowledge of any other individual, rather than his or her own lmowledge,
provide separate affidavits or declarations of each such ndividual with personal
knowledge that identify clearly to which responses the affiant or declarant with such
personal knowledge is attesting. All such declarations provided must comply with

Section 1.16 of the Cornmission’s rules,” and be substantially in the form set forth
therein.

3 Sec 47 CFIRL§1.15.
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To lmowingly and willfully malke auy false statement or conceal any material fact
in reply to this inquiry is punishable by fime or hnpriscmnent."' Failure to respond
appropriately to tHis letter of inquiry may constitute a violation of the Communications
Act end our mles.

X The Licensee shall direct its response, if sent by messenger or hand delivery, to
Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary, Federal Communications Commission, 445 12" Street,
S.W., Room TW-A325, Washington, D.C. 20554, to the attention of Melanie Godschall,
Atiorney Advisor,| Investgations and Hearings Division, Enforcemnent Bureau, Room 4-
C330, with 2 copy, to Benigno E. Bartelome, Deputy Chief, Investigations and Hearings
Division, Bnforcement Buzreau, Room 4-C330, Federal Communications Commission. If
sent by Gommami%ﬂ overnight meil (cther than U.S. Postal Service Express Meil and
Priority Mail) the response should be sent 1o the Federal Communications Commission,
. 9300 East Hamptan Drive, Capitol Heights, Maryland 20743. If sent by first-class,
Express, or Priority mail, the response should be sept 10 Melanie Godschall, Attorney
Advisor, Investigations and Hearings Divisian, Enforcement Bureau, Federal
Commumicetions Commission, 445 12" Street, $.W., Room 4-C330, Washington, D.C.
20554, with a copy to Benigno E. Bartolome, Deputy Chicf, Investigations and Hearings
Division, Enforcefnent Burean, Federal Commuuications Commission, 445 12" Street,
S.W., Room 4-C330, Wachington, D.C. 20554, The Licensee shall also, to the extent
practicable, transmit a copy of the response via email to Melanie. Godschall@fce.gov and
to Ben.Bartolome@fce.gov.

Sincerely,

. BonJafor——

Benigno E. Bartolome

Deputy Chief
Investigations and Hedrings Division
Enforcement Bureau
Attachment
Enclosure

! Sce 18 1.S.C. § 1000; yec alse 47 CER. § 117, .

* See SBC Communicgrions, fne., Forfeiture Order, 17 FCC Red 7589 (2002); Glabeom, Inc., Nofice of
Apparent Lizbility fof Forfefture and Order, 18 FCC Red 19893, n. 36 {2003); World Communications
Sarellite Systems, Inc.) Forfeiore Order, 19 FCC Red 2718 (Enf. Bur, 2004); Donald W. Kaminski, Jr.,
Forfeiture Ocder, 18 ﬁCC Red 26065 (Enf. Bur, 2003).
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. Attachment
Instructions

Request fot Confidential Treatment. 1fthe Licensee requests that any information
or docurnents responsive to this letter be treated in a confideatial manner, it shall submit,
along with all respjonsive information and documents, & statement in accordance with
Section 0.459 of the Commission’s rules. See 47 CF.R. § 0.459. Requests for
confidential treatment rewst comply with the requirements of Section 0.459, imcluding the
staridards of @cf‘%city mandated by Section 0.459(b). Accordingly, “planlet” requests
for confidentiality|of & large set of docurments, and casual requests, including simply
stamping pages “confidential,” are unacceptable. Pursuant to Section' 0.459(c), the
Bureaw will not consider requests that do not comply with the requirements o Section
0.458. .

Claims of Privilege. If the Licensee withholds any information or documents
under clzim of pri}/ilege, it shall submit, together with any claim of privilege, a schedule
of the items withheld that states, individually as to each such item: the numbered inguiry
to which each ifem: responds and the type, title, specific subject matter and date of the
item; the names, afidresses, positions, and organizations of all authors and recipjents of
the item; and the specific ground(s) for claiming that the item is privileged.

Format of Responses. The response must be consistent with the format of the
questions asked.

Method of\Producing Documents. Each requested document, as defined herein,
shall be submitted in its entirety, even if only a portion of that document is responsive'to
an inquiry made herein, This means that the document shail not be edited, cut, or
expunged, and shell includs all appendices, tables, or other attachments, and all other
documents referred to in the document or attzchments. All written materials necessary to
understand any document responsive to these inguiries must also be submitted.

IdenrzﬁcazLon of Documents. For sach docurnent or statement submitted in
response to the imauirics stated in the cover leiter, indicate, by number, to which inquiry it
is responsive and Fdentify the person(s) from whose files the document was retrieved. If
ary docurmient is not dated, state the date on which it was prepared. If eny document does
not identify its author(s) or recipient(s), state, if kmown, the name(s) of the author(s) or
recipient(s). The [Licensee must identify with reasonable specificity all documents
provided in response to these inquiries.

Documenis No Longer Available. If 2 Document responsive to any inquiry made
herein existed but is no longer available, or if the Licensee is unable for any reason to
produce a Document responsive to any inguiry, identify each such Document by author,
vacipient, date, title, and specific subject matter, and explain fully why the Document is
no longer available or why the Licensee is otherwise unable to produce it,
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- Retention of Original Documents. With respect only to documents responsive to
the specific inqujrﬂfs mage herein and eny other documents relevant to those inquiries,
the Licensee is directed to retain the originals of those documents for twelve (12) months
from the dare of this letter unless () the Licensee is directed or informed by the
Enforcement Burejau in writing to retain such documents for some shorter or longer
period of ime or (’?) the Enforcement Bureau or the Commission releases an itern on the
subject of this investigation, including, but not limited to, 2 Notice of Apparent Liability
for Forfeiture or an order disposing of the issues in the investigation, in which case, the
Licensee must retajlin all such docwments until the matter has been finally concluded by
payment of any ménetary penalty, satisfaction of all conditions, expiration of all possible
appeals, conclusioh of any collection sction brought by the United States Department of
Justice or executiotn and implernentation of a final settlement with the Commission or the
Enforcement Burean.

-Continuing Nawure of Inguiries, The specific inquiries made herein are continuing
in nafure. The Licensee is required to produce in the future any and all documents and
information that age responsive to the inquiries made herein but not initially produced at
the time, date, and|place specified herein. In this regard, the Licensee must supplement
its responses (a) ifjthe Licensee learns that, in some materiel respect, the documents and
mnformation initially disclosed were incomplete or incarrect or (b) if additional responsive
documents or information are acquired by or become known to the Licensee after the
initial production. | The requirement to update the record will continue for twelve (12)
months from the date of this letter unless (v) the Licensee is directed or informed by the
Enforcement Bureau in writing that the Licensee’s obligation to update the record will
continue for some|shorter or longer period of time or (b) the Enforcement Bureau or the
Commission releases an itern on the subject of this investigation, including, but not
limited to, & Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeifure or an order disposing of the
jssues in the invesfigation, in which case the abligation to update the record will continue
until the release of such item.

Defigitions
For purposes of this letter, the following definitions apply:

“Any" shall be construed Yo include the word “all,” and the word “z11” shall be
construed to include the word “any.” Additonally, the word “or” shall be construed to
melude the word “fand,” and the word “and” shall be construed fo include the word “or,”
The word “each” shall be construed to inciude the word “every,” and the word “cvery”
shall be construed|to include the word “each.”

“Broadeas],” when used as noun, shzll mean visual images or audible sounds or

language transmitied or disserninated over a station during the course of a radio or
television broadeast.
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“Broadcast,” when used as a verb, shall mean the transmission or dissemination of
radio or televisio { commaunications intended to be received by the public. The verb
“broadeast” may be used interchangezbly with the verb “air.”

“Correspondence” shall mean eny letter, facsirnile, e-mail, memorandum, note,
telegram, report, ecord, posting on Licensee website blogs or social networking
wehgites, or handwritten note.

“Document” shall mean the complete original (or in lie thereof, exact copies of
the original) and amy non-identical copy (whether different from the original because of
notations on the cE:py or otherwise), regardless of origin or location, of any taped,
recorded, transcribed, written, typed, printed, filmed, punched, computer-stored, or
graphic matter of ‘every type and description, however and by whomever prepared,
produced, disseminated, or made, and regardless of how denominated, mending but not
Himited to any brgadcast, radio program, advertisement, book, pamphlet, periodical,
contract, correkpc‘ndence, Jetter, facsimile, e-ma, file, invoice, memorandum, note,
telegram, report, fecord, handwritten note, worldng paper, routing slip, chart, graph,
photograph, papc'r, index, map, tabulation, manual, guide, outline, script, abstract,
history, calendar,ldiary, agenda, minute, marketing plav, research paper, preliminary
drafis, or versions of 2l of the above, and computer material (print-outs, cards, megnetic
or electronic tape] disks and such codes or instructions as will transform such computer
materials into 1y understandable form), :

“Identify” when used with reference to a person or persons, means to state his/her
full legal name, current or last known business address, current or last known telephone
number, current gr last lmown orgenization and position therewith. “Identify,” when
used with :efcrc%e to & document, means to state the date, author, addressee, typs of
document (e.g., the types of document, as described above), a brief description of the
subject matter, its present or last known location and its custodian, who rnust elso be
identificd, “Identify,” when used with reference to an entity other than a person, Ime&ns
to state its narme, [curreat or last known business address, and current or last known
business telcphoIe number.

47 jcensed” shall mean Fox Télevision Stations, Inc. and any predecessor-in-
interest, affiliate, parent company, wholly or partialty owned subsidiary, other affiliated
company or business, and all owners, including but not limited to, pariners or prineipals,
and all directors,|officers, cmaployees, or agents, including consiltants and any other

persons worlking|for or on behalf of the foregoing at any time during the period covered
by this {eter.

“Relating to” means in the whole or in part constituting, containing, conceming,
discussing, describing, analyzing, identifying, or stating.
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1
Foger has an injured anm, and tells Stan ho mmst cars for their rasehorse.

ROGER: TYou'rs gonna heve o do the hotse chores..Yor have 1o brugh the hosse's cont pnd mone, water pad feod it, then

" give it & full relesse, Yoo kngw, give it s happy photd finish, Toke the gioe out of the fectory, Spank his fromt butt, Grant
him a bone loant?

Later, Stan stokes the horseTs side,
STAN: 7Here we go, Just do me o favor and let me know when you're obout to...you know,?
Stan bends down beneath thelharse. The horse?s eyes go wide with surprise ond pleagure, Stan is shewn with fluld spraying

in his face, fmplying that the horss has sjsenlated on Stan. The camesa pulls back to reveal that Sten {3 washing himself eff
with 2 hose.

The Bible says thet even looking at o women with Iust is sindl po the thoughss that this puty into people minds is in my

spinion way ageinst amything that God would want us to be looking at.
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